

# Standard Infection Control Precautions Literature Review: Hand Hygiene: Products

**Version:** 4.0, July 2020

Owner/Author: Infection Control Team Review Date: Financial year 2023/24



#### **DOCUMENT CONTROL SHEET**

Key Information:			
Title:	Standard Infection Control Precautions (SICPs) Literature		
	Review: Ha	and Hygiene: Products	
Date Published/Issued:	10 July 202	20	
Date Effective From:	10 July 202	20	
Version/Issue Number:	4.0		
Document Type:	Literature F	Review	
Document status:	Final		
Author:	Name:	Catherine Boswell and Jenny Longstaff	
	Role:	Healthcare Scientist (advanced/practitioner)	
	Division:	HPS	
Owner:	Infection Control		
Approver:	Susie Dodd		
Approved by and Date:			
Contact	Name: Infection Control Team		
	<b>Tel</b> : 0141 300 1175		
	Email: <u>nss.hpsinfectioncontrol@nhs.net</u>		
File Location:			

Version History:
This literature review will be updated as new evidence emerges.

Version	Date	Summary of changes	Changes marked
1.0	January 2012	Defined as final	
2.0	April 2014	Updated after review of current literature	
3.0	August 2015	Updated after review of current literature	
4.0	July 2020	Update of the Hand Hygiene: products literature review v3.0 using the two-person NIPCM methodology.	
		Research questions modified.	
		Addition of the following recommendations:	
		When should antimicrobial soap be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings? Hands should be washed with antimicrobial soap and water before performing an invasive procedure;	
		When should alcohol based hand rub (ABHR) be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?  ABHR solutions containing 62-90% alcohol by volume are the preferred product for	

Version	Date	Summary of changes	Changes marked
		hand hygiene in health and care settings unless hands are visibly contaminated/soiled, or when there is likely to be exposure to spore forming organisms (C. difficile or B. anthracis) or infectious diarrhoeal diseases (norovirus);	
		What is the correct technique when using antimicrobial hand wipes for hand hygiene? Manufacturer's instructions should be followed for correct technique when using hand wipes for hand hygiene; Recommendations regarding surgical scrubbing removed for inclusion in the HH – Surgical hand antisepsis in the clinical setting literature review.	

### Approvals – this document requires the following approvals

Version	Date Approved	Name	Job Title	Division
1.0	January 2012	Steering (Expert Advisory) Group for SICPs and TBPs		
2.0	April 2014	Steering (Expert Advisory) Group for SICPs and TBPs		
3.0	August 2015	Steering (Expert Advisory) Group for SICPs and TBPs		
4.0	July 2020	National Policy Guidance and Outbreaks Steering and Consensus groups		

HPS ICT Document In	HPS ICT Document Information Grid		
Description:	This literature review examines the available professional literature on Hand Hygiene Products in health and other care settings.		
Purpose:	To inform the Standard Infection Control Precaution (SICP) section on Hand Hygiene Products in the National Infection Prevention and Control Manual.		
Target audience:	All NHS staff involved in the prevention and control of infection in NHSScotland.		
Circulation list:	Infection Control Managers, Infection Prevention and Control Teams, Public Health Teams.		
Update/review schedule:	Updated as new evidence emerges with changes made to recommendations as required.		
Cross reference:	nce: National Infection Prevention and Control Manual <a href="http://www.nipcm.hps.scot.nhs.uk/">http://www.nipcm.hps.scot.nhs.uk/</a>		
Update Level:	Change to practice – no significant change to practice  Research – no significant change		

### SICP Literature Review: Hand Hygiene: Products

### Contents:

1.	Object	ctives	6	
	Methodology			
		ussion		
	3.1	Implications for practice	7	
	3.2	Implications for research	11	
4.	l. Recommendations			
Ref	erence	es	14	
Apr	pendix	1: Grades of recommendation	19	

### 1. Objectives

The aim of this review is to examine the extant scientific literature regarding the use of hand hygiene products for standard infection control purposes in health and care settings. The specific objectives of the review are to determine:

- What is a non-antimicrobial soap?
- How effective is non-antimicrobial soap at removing/killing microorganisms?
- When should non-antimicrobial soap be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?
- What is an antimicrobial soap?
- How effective is antimicrobial soap at removing/killing microorganisms?
- When should antimicrobial soap be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?
- What is alcohol based hand rub (ABHR)?
- How effective is alcohol based hand rub (ABHR) at removing/killing microorganisms?
- When should alcohol based hand rub (ABHR) be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?
- What is non-alcohol based hand rub?
- How effective is non-alcohol based hand rub at removing/killing microorganisms?
- When should non-alcohol based hand rub be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?
- What are antimicrobial hand wipes?
- How effective are antimicrobial hand wipes at removing/killing microorganisms?
- When should antimicrobial hand wipes be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?
- What is the correct technique when using antimicrobial hand wipes for hand hygiene?

NB. Products for performing surgical hand antisepsis are discussed in the SICPs literature review - 'Hand Hygiene: surgical hand antisepsis in the clinical setting'.

### 2. Methodology

This systematic literature review was produced using a defined methodology as described in the National Infection Prevention and Control Manual: Methodology.

#### 3. Discussion

#### 3.1 Implications for practice

#### What is a non-antimicrobial soap?

Non-antimicrobial soap (commonly referred to as plain soap) is available in bar, leaflet, tissue, powder and liquid formats. The detergent properties of non-antimicrobial soap enable the physical removal of transient microorganisms along with dirt and organic matter from the hands. However, unlike ABHR and antimicrobial soaps, the available evidence suggests that non-antimicrobial soaps themselves are not capable of killing or inhibiting the growth of microorganisms.

#### How effective is non-antimicrobial soap at removing/killing microorganisms?

Generally, non-antimicrobial soap is considered to be less effective than both antimicrobial soap and ABHR at reducing hand contamination.<sup>6-13</sup> There is some conflicting evidence that non-antimicrobial soap may be superior to ABHR at reducing viral contamination (influenza A, rhinovirus and norovirus) on hands but it is unclear if the contaminating viral RNA in these studies was viable due to the testing methods used.<sup>14-16</sup> Non-antimicrobial soap has also been shown to be superior to ABHR for the removal of *Clostridioides difficile* spores from hands.<sup>17, 18</sup> In addition, when hands are soiled, non-antimicrobial soap has been shown to be more effective at reducing hand contamination than ABHR.<sup>19</sup>

# When should non-antimicrobial soap be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?

The extant guidance consistently recommends that hand washing with non-antimicrobial soap is the preferred method of hand hygiene when hands are visibly contaminated/soiled (with dirt, blood, body fluids) or when there is likely to be exposure to spore forming organisms (e.g. *C. difficile, Bacillus anthracis*) or gastrointestinal (GI) infections (e.g. norovirus).<sup>6, 20-25</sup>

#### What is an antimicrobial soap?

Antimicrobial soap is a generic term for soap products with a range of antimicrobial active ingredients, such as chlorhexidine, triclosan, hexachlorophene, chloroxyenol, povidone iodine and quaternary ammonium compounds.<sup>6</sup>

#### How effective is antimicrobial soap at removing/killing microorganisms?

Antimicrobial soaps have largely been found to reduce transient and resident microorganisms found on hands to a greater degree than non-antimicrobial soaps.<sup>7-9</sup> A single study found no immediate difference in reduction of bacterial hand contamination between triclosan-containing and non-antimicrobial soap, however, antimicrobial soaps may have a persistent effect that makes them more effective than non-antimicrobial soap over time.<sup>26</sup>

The evidence for the effectiveness of antimicrobial soap compared to ABHR is mixed. A single study found antimicrobial soap to be less effective at reducing bacterial hand contamination than ABHR.<sup>13</sup> However, the majority of studies show that antimicrobial soap is as effective,<sup>27</sup> or more effective at reducing hand contamination than ABHR.<sup>7, 8, 28</sup> None of the included studies specifically assessed the effectiveness of antimicrobial soaps against viral contamination and the World Health Organization (WHO) consider antimicrobial soap to be less effective than ABHR, generally.<sup>6</sup>

Studies on the routine use of chlorhexidine-containing soaps for hand hygiene have found no difference in rates of HAI compared to ABHR or non-antimicrobial soap.<sup>29, 30</sup>

Experimental studies have compared a variety of different antimicrobial soaps (active ingredients; concentrations) in a variety of different ways (technique; contact times; volume; in vivo; in vitro) against a range of microorganisms (viral; bacterial; fungal), which does not facilitate comparison.<sup>7-9, 13</sup> No clear conclusions can be drawn on the most appropriate type of antimicrobial soap for a given circumstance on the basis of this evidence.

#### When should antimicrobial soap be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?

CDC guidance states that either non-antimicrobial soap or antimicrobial soap is appropriate for washing visibly contaminated/soiled hands or when there is exposure to spore forming organisms or infectious diarrhoea.<sup>24, 25</sup> However, the majority of extant guidance and expert reviews, all of which were more recently published, do not recommend the routine use of antimicrobial soaps for hand hygiene. <sup>1, 3, 20, 29, 31</sup> The use of antimicrobial liquid soap is however, recommended when carrying out WHO hand hygiene moment 2 i.e. before a clean/aseptic procedure,<sup>6, 23</sup> for surgical hand antisepsis,<sup>20</sup> and its use has been suggested in areas where high risk patients are cared for<sup>1</sup> and during outbreaks.<sup>20</sup>

#### What is alcohol based hand rub (ABHR)?

Alcohol based hand rubs are commercially available as liquid solutions, gels and foams; the active ingredient in ABHR may be ethanol, isopropanol or n-propanol in concentrations typically ranging from around 60 to 95% (v/v).<sup>5, 6, 23</sup>

#### How effective is alcohol based hand rub (ABHR) at removing/killing microorganisms?

It is unclear from the evidence identified whether the ABHR format (i.e. gel, foam or liquid) has any influence on effectiveness.<sup>6, 32-35</sup> It is also unclear which formulation of ABHR (alcohol type, alcohol concentration, additional ingredients) has the optimum microbicidal properties for all situations. WHO Guidelines on Hand Hygiene in Healthcare state that alcohol solutions containing 60-80% alcohol are most effective, with higher concentrations being less effective due to the fact that proteins are not easily denatured in the absence of water.<sup>6</sup> However, Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America (SHEA) guidelines state that a minimum of 62% v/v alcohol should be used and formulations with up to 90% have been shown to be effective.<sup>23</sup> There is evidence to indicate that there is a dose-dependent effect, with higher alcohol concentrations having better microbicidal properties,<sup>3, 36</sup> however, differences in formulations make direct comparison challenging.<sup>36</sup>

ABHR has been demonstrated to have antibacterial, antifungal and antiviral properties.<sup>5, 37-41</sup> Generally, ABHR has been found to have better microbicidal properties than non-antimicrobial soap.<sup>6, 7, 10-13, 23</sup> However, hand washing with soap and water is more effective than ABHR against spore forming organisms such as *C. difficile*.<sup>17, 18, 28</sup> Spores are resistant to the effects of alcohol; the detergent properties of soap (which ABHRs do not possess) allow the spores to be physically removed from hands. There is also some evidence that plain soap and water more effectively removes viral RNA from hands than ABHR, however this is also likely due to its detergent properties and it is not possible to say whether the contaminating viral material was viable in these studies.<sup>14-16</sup>

At concentrations ranging from 50-90%, ethanol is thought to have sufficient virucidal activity to be effective against most clinically relevant viruses.<sup>39</sup> It has also been identified that ethanol may have greater activity against some viruses than isopropanol, particularly at high (>95%) concentrations.<sup>3, 6</sup> However, at lower concentrations (<75%) the effectiveness of both ethanol and isopropanol against non-enveloped viruses such as enterovirus may be limited.<sup>38</sup> The routine use of ABHR has been associated with an increased risk of norovirus outbreaks in long-term care facilities;<sup>42</sup> however, at high concentrations (>80%) both ethanol and n-propanol based ABHRs have been shown to be effective against a norovirus surrogate.<sup>43</sup>

The evidence is mixed on whether the microbicidal properties of ABHR are better than those of antimicrobial soap: some evidence indicates that ABHR is better; 12, 13, 23, 44, 45 some evidence indicates that antimicrobial soap is better; and some evidence indicates that there is no difference. The WHO hand hygiene guidelines consider ABHR to be more effective than both non-antimicrobial and antimicrobial soap.

Some ABHR formulations have additional antimicrobial agents such as hydrogen peroxide, chlorhexidine gluconate, triclosan and organic acids added to the formula; there is mixed evidence on for the effectiveness of these formulations compared to 'plain' ABHR with some studies showing additive formulations to be more effective, <sup>36, 47</sup> and some equally effective. <sup>48</sup> It is unclear from the identified evidence what the risks/benefits for the routine use of ABHR with additional antimicrobial agents are.

ABHR is not considered to be effective when hands are visibly contaminated/soiled, as it does not have detergent properties<sup>6, 20-22, 49</sup> and has been found to be ineffective in the presence of organic matter/soil.<sup>41</sup> The results of one study indicate that ABHR may have activity against *Serratia marcescens* in the presence of blood contamination on hands, however, the methodology used does not allow comparison with current hand hygiene practice and there is insufficient evidence to support the use of ABHR in these circumstances.<sup>50</sup>

### When should alcohol based hand rub (ABHR) be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?

The extant guidance consistently recommends that ABHR should be the preferred method for hand hygiene<sup>6, 20, 21, 23, 24</sup> unless hands are visibly contaminated/soiled,<sup>1, 2, 6, 20-23, 49</sup> or when there is likely to be exposure to spore forming organisms (e.g. *C. difficile*, *B. anthracis*) or infectious diarrhoeal diseases (e.g. norovirus).<sup>6, 20-23</sup>

#### What is non-alcohol based hand rub?

Non-alcohol based hand rub (ABHR) products have been developed as alternatives to ABHRs, they may contain a range of antimicrobial agents however, this review identified insufficient evidence to describe what these agents may be.

#### How effective is non-alcohol based hand rub at removing/killing microorganisms?

This review identified extremely limited evidence suitable for inclusion on the effectiveness of non-alcohol based had rubs; one study investigated a product based on polyhexamethylene guanidine and found it significantly reduced fingertip colonisation.<sup>51</sup> No comparison was made between the test product and ABHR,<sup>51</sup> therefore it is not possible to draw any conclusions or make evidence-based recommendations for this research question.

# When should non-alcohol based hand rub be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?

The National Infection Prevention and Control consensus group agree that non-ABHRs should not currently be recommended for use in NHSScotland and advise these should not be used in other care settings.

#### What are antimicrobial hand wipes?

This review identified limited evidence to describe the composition of commercially available antimicrobial hand wipes. Generally, they may consist of a disposable, soft material impregnated with antimicrobial agents for example benzalkonium chloride,<sup>8</sup> parachlorometaxylenol,<sup>8, 17</sup> and/or alcohol.<sup>8, 17, 52, 53</sup>

#### How effective are antimicrobial hand wipes at removing/killing microorganisms?

The evidence for the effectiveness of antimicrobial hand wipes is limited and mixed.<sup>8, 17, 52, 53</sup> Hand wipes have been found to be ineffective at reducing bacteriophage MS2 on artificially

contaminated hands<sup>8</sup> and are less effective at reducing microbial hand contamination than either antimicrobial<sup>52</sup> or non-antimicrobial soaps.<sup>8, 17</sup> In comparison to ABHR, hand wipes have been found to be more effective at removing *C. difficile* spores.<sup>17</sup> However, there are mixed results when comparing effectiveness of hand wipes to ABHR for non-spore forming bacteria with hand wipes found to be both less effective<sup>8, 53</sup> and more effective than ABHRs with similar formulas.<sup>52</sup>

# When should antimicrobial hand wipes be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?

The SHEA hand hygiene guidelines state that alcohol impregnated wipes may be beneficial to first responders who cannot easily access wall-mounted dispensers or sinks.<sup>23</sup> It has been suggested that alcohol impregnated wipes could be used as a substitute for plain soap and water, but not for ABHR or antimicrobial soap.<sup>5, 24</sup> Due to the lack of robust evidence the National Infection Prevention and Control consensus group agreed that hand wipes should not be recommended for use in NHSScotland or other care settings in Scotland except in special circumstances e.g. if no running water is available, and that this must be followed by hand hygiene using ABHR.

#### What is the correct technique when using antimicrobial hand wipes for hand hygiene?

No recommendations for the correct technique when using antimicrobial hand wipes for hand hygiene were identified in published guidelines. The identified experimental studies either followed manufacturer's instructions<sup>52</sup> or did not describe the application technique used.<sup>8, 17</sup> Therefore, in situations where the use of hand wipes is necessary and acceptable manufacturer's instructions for use should be followed.

#### 3.2 Implications for research

There are uncertainties around the efficacy of antimicrobial hand wipes and non-alcohol based hand rubs and further research in these areas is required. Although there is sufficient consistency in the evidence base to allow synthesis and development of recommendations, there exists considerable conflicting evidence on the effectiveness of the different hand hygiene products against different classes of microorganisms, specifically when comparing the effectiveness of different product classes. This is due to the heterogeneity of the included studies in terms of the product formulations, test organisms, hand decontamination protocols and the influence of different study designs. The validity of many of the included studies is hampered by small sample sizes, in addition the techniques used for hand hygiene and the training of participants for many studies were poorly described or not described at all increasing the risk of bias in their conclusions.

#### 4. Recommendations

This review makes the following recommendations based on an assessment of the extant scientific literature on hand hygiene products for standard infection control purposes in health and care settings:

# When should non-antimicrobial (plain) soap be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?

Hands should be washed with non-antimicrobial soap and water when visibly contaminated/soiled or when there is likely to be exposure to spore forming organisms (e.g. *C.difficile, B.anthracis*) or gastrointestinal (GI) infections (e.g. norovirus). [ABHR is the preferred product for hand hygiene otherwise.]

#### (Category B)

#### When should antimicrobial soap be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?

Hands should be washed with antimicrobial soap and water before performing an invasive procedure.

Antimicrobial soaps with immediate and sustained antimicrobial effect are suitable for surgical hand antisepsis.

#### (Category B)

# When should alcohol based hand rub (ABHR) be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?

ABHR solutions containing 62-90% alcohol by volume are the preferred product for hand hygiene in health and care settings unless hands are visibly contaminated/soiled, or when there is likely to be exposure to spore forming organisms (*C. difficile* or *B. anthracis*) or infectious diarrhoeal diseases (norovirus).

#### (Category B)

### When should non-alcohol based hand rub be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?

The use of non-alcohol based hand rub products for hand hygiene is not recommended in health and other care settings.

#### (Category C)

# When should antimicrobial hand wipes be used for hand hygiene in health and care settings?

Hand wipes should not be used for hand hygiene by staff in health and care settings **unless** there is no running water available. In this instance, staff may use hand wipes followed by ABHR and wash their hands at the first available opportunity.

#### (Category C)

#### What is the correct technique when using antimicrobial hand wipes for hand hygiene?

Manufacturer's instructions should be followed for correct technique when using hand wipes for hand hygiene.

#### (Category C)

#### References

- 1. Nicolay CJIJoS. Hand hygiene: an evidence-based review for surgeons. 2006; 4: 53-65.
- 2. Langley JJCJoID and Microbiology M. From soap and water, to waterless agents: Update on hand hygiene in health care settings. 2002; 13: 285-286.
- 3. Kampf G and Kramer A. Epidemiologic background of hand hygiene and evaluation of the most important agents for scrubs and rubs. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews* 2004; 17: 863-893. Review.
- 4. Gould DJNS. Hand decontamination. 2000; 15: 45.
- 5. Katz JD. Hand washing and hand disinfection: More than your mother taught you. *Anesthesiology Clinics of North America* 2004; 22: 457-471. Review.
- 6. World Health Organization. WHO Guidelines on Hand Hygiene in Healthcare: First Global Patient Safety Challenge Clean Care is Safer Care. Geneva: World Health Organization,, 2009.
- 7. Lucet J, Rigaud M, Mentre F, et al. Hand contamination before and after different hand hygiene techniques: a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2002; 50: 276-280.
- 8. Sickbert-Bennett EE, Weber DJ, Gergen-Teague MF, et al. Comparative efficacy of hand hygiene agents in the reduction of bacteria and viruses. 2005; 33: 67-77.
- 9. Yildirim M, Sahin I, Oksuz S, et al. Hand carriage of Candida occurs at lesser rates in hospital personnel who use antimicrobial hand disinfectant. *Scandinavian Journal of Infectious Diseases* 2014; 46: 633-636.
- 10. Turner RB, Fuls JL and Rodgers ND. Effectiveness of hand sanitizers with and without organic acids for removal of rhinovirus from hands. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 2010; 54: 1363-1364.
- 11. Winnefeld M, Richard MA, Drancourt M, et al. Skin tolerance and effectiveness of two hand decontamination procedures in everyday hospital use. *British Journal of Dermatology* 2000; 143: 546-550.
- 12. Kac G, Podglajen I, Guerneret M, et al. Microbiological evaluation of two hand hygiene procedures achieved by healthcare workers during routine patient care: a randomized study [corrected] [published erratum appears in J HOSP INFECT 2006 Jan;62(1):129]. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2005; 60: 32-39.
- 13. Guihermetti M, Hernandes SED, Fukushigue Y, et al. Effectiveness of hand-cleansing agents for removing methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus from contaminated hands. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 2001; 22: 105-108.
- 14. Savolainen-Kopra C, Korpela T, Simonen-Tikka ML, et al. Single treatment with ethanol hand rub is ineffective against human rhinovirus—hand washing with soap and water removes the virus efficiently. 2012; 84: 543-547.

- 15. Grayson ML, Melvani S, Druce J, et al. Efficacy of soap and water and alcohol-based hand-rub preparations against live H1N1 influenza virus on the hands of human volunteers. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 2009; 48: 285-291.
- 16. Tuladhar E, Hazeleger WC, Koopmans M, et al. Reducing viral contamination from finger pads: Handwashing is more effective than alcohol-based hand disinfectants. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2015; 90: 226-234.
- 17. Oughton MT, Loo VG, Dendukuri N, et al. Hand hygiene with soap and water is superior to alcohol rub and antiseptic wipes for removal of Clostridium difficile. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 2009; 30: 939-944. Evaluation Studies Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't.
- 18. Kundrapu S, Sunkesula V, Jury I, et al. A Randomized Trial of Soap and Water Hand Wash Versus Alcohol Hand Rub for Removal of Clostridium difficile Spores from Hands of Patients. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 2014; 35: 204-206. DOI: 10.1086/674859.
- 19. Wolfe MK, Gallandat K, Daniels K, et al. Handwashing and Ebola virus disease outbreaks: A randomized comparison of soap, hand sanitizer, and 0.05% chlorine solutions on the inactivation and removal of model organisms Phi6 and E. coli from hands and persistence in rinse water. *PLoS ONE* 2017; 12 (2) (no pagination).
- 20. Loveday H, Wilson J, Pratt R, et al. epic3: national evidence-based guidelines for preventing healthcare-associated infections in NHS hospitals in England. 2014; 86: S1-S70.
- 21. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Healthcare-associated infections: prevention and control in primary and community care (CG139). National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, , 2012.
- 22. Nursing RCo. Essential practice for infection prevention and control: Guidance for nursing staff. RCN, 2017.
- 23. Ellingson K, Haas JP, Aiello AE, et al. Strategies to Prevent Healthcare-Associated Infections through Hand Hygiene. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 2014; 35: 937-960. DOI: 10.1086/677145.
- 24. Boyce JM and Pittet D. Guideline for hand hygiene in health-care settings: recommendations of the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee and the HICPAC/SHEA/APIC/IDSA Hand Hygiene Task Force. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 2002; 23: S3-40.
- 25. Siegel JD, Rhinehart E, Jackson M, et al. 2007 Guideline for isolation precautions preventing transmission of infectious agents in healthcare settings. 2007.
- 26. Kim S, Moon H, Lee K, et al. Bactericidal effects of triclosan in soap both in vitro and in vivo. 2015; 70: 3345-3352.
- 27. Chow A, Arah OA, Chan SP, et al. Alcohol handrubbing and chlorhexidine handwashing protocols for routine hospital practice: a randomized clinical trial of protocol efficacy and

- time effectiveness. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2012; 40: 800-805. Randomized Controlled Trial.
- 28. Jabbar U, Leischner J, Kasper D, et al. Effectiveness of alcohol-based hand rubs for removal of Clostridium difficile spores from hands. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 2010; 31: 565-570. DOI: 10.1086/652772.
- 29. Baraldi MM, Gnatta JR and Padoveze MC. Risks and benefits of using chlorhexidine gluconate in handwashing: A systematic literature review. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2019; 47: 704-714. Review.
- 30. Larson EL, Cimiotti J, Haas J, et al. Effect of antiseptic handwashing vs alcohol sanitizer on health care–associated infections in neonatal intensive care units. 2005; 159: 377-383.
- 31. Kampf G. What is left to justify the use of chlorhexidine in hand hygiene? *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2008; 70: 27-34.
- 32. Dharan S, Hugonnet S, Sax H, et al. Comparison of waterless hand antisepsis agents at short application times: Raising the flag of concern. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2003; 1000 24: 160-164.
- 33. Macinga DR, Shumaker DJ, Werner H-P, et al. The relative influences of product volume, delivery format and alcohol concentration on dry-time and efficacy of alcohol-based hand rubs. *BMC Infectious Diseases* 2014; 14: 511-511. DOI: 10.1186/1471-2334-14-511.
- 34. Wilkinson MAC, Ormandy K, Bradley CR, et al. Comparison of the efficacy and drying times of liquid, gel and foam formats of alcohol-based hand rubs. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2018; 98: 359-364. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhin.2017.09.024.
- 35. Barbut F, Maury E, Goldwirt L, et al. Comparison of the antibacterial efficacy and acceptability of an alcohol-based hand rinse with two alcohol-based hand gels during routine patient care. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2007; 66: 167-173.
- 36. Suchomel M, Kundi M, Pittet D, et al. Testing of the World Health Organization recommended formulations in their application as hygienic hand rubs and proposals for increased efficacy. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2012; 40: 328-331. DOI: 10.1016/j.ajic.2011.06.012.
- 37. Picheansathian W. A systematic review on the effectiveness of alcohol-based solutions for hand hygiene. *International journal of nursing practice* 2004; 10: 3-9. Review.
- 38. Chang SC, Li WC, Huang KY, et al. Efficacy of alcohols and alcohol-based hand disinfectants against human enterovirus 71. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2013; 83: 288-293.
- 39. Kampf G. Efficacy of ethanol against viruses in hand disinfection. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2018; 98: 331-338. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhin.2017.08.025.

- 40. Sunkesula V, Kundrapu S, Macinga DR, et al. Efficacy of alcohol gel for removal of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus Aureus from hands of colonized patients. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 2015; 36: 229-231.
- 41. Grayson ML, Ballard SA, Gao W, et al. Quantitative efficacy of alcohol-based handrub against vancomycin-resistant enterococci on the hands of human volunteers. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 2012; 33: 98-100.
- 42. Blaney DD, Daly ER, Kirkland KB, et al. Use of alcohol-based hand sanitizers as a risk factor for norovirus outbreaks in long-term care facilities in northern New England:

  December 2006 to March 2007. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2011; 39: 296-301.
- 43. Kampf G, Grotheer D and Steinmann J. Efficacy of three ethanol-based hand rubs against feline calicivirus, a surrogate virus for norovirus. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2005: 60: 144-149.
- Girou E, Loyeau S, Legrand P, et al. Efficacy of handrubbing with alcohol based solution versus standard handwashing with antiseptic soap: randomised clinical trial. *BMJ* 2002; 325: 362. Clinical Trial. Multicenter Study. Randomized Controlled Trial. Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't.
- 45. Salmon S, McLaws ML, Truong TA, et al. Healthcare workers' hand contamination levels and antimicrobial efficacy of different hand hygiene methods used in a Vietnamese hospital. *Antimicrobial Resistance and Infection Control Conference: 2nd International Conference on Prevention and Infection Control, ICPIC* 2013; 2. Conference Abstract.
- 46. Ho HJ, Poh BF, Choudhury S, et al. Alcohol handrubbing and chlorhexidine handwashing are equally effective in removing methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus from health care workers' hands: A randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2015; 43: 1246-1248.
- 47. Deshpande A, Fox J, Ken Koon W, et al. Comparative Antimicrobial Efficacy of Two Hand Sanitizers in Intensive Care Units Common Areas: A Randomized, Controlled Trial. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 2018; 39: 267-271. DOI: 10.1017/ice.2017.293.
- 48. Rochon-Edouard S, Pons J, Veber B, et al. Comparative in vitro and in vivo study of nine alcohol-based handrubs. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2004; 32: 200-204.
- 49. Jeanes A. Infection control. A practical guide to the use of hand decontaminants. *Nursing Times* 2005; 101: 46-48.
- 50. Kawagoe JY, Graziano KU, Valle Martino MD, et al. Bacterial reduction of alcohol-based liquid and gel products on hands soiled with blood. *American Journal of Infection Control* 2011; 39: 785-787. Conference Paper.
- 51. Agthe N, Terho K, Kurvinen T, et al. Microbiological efficacy and tolerability of a new, non--alcohol-based hand disinfectant. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 2009; 30: 685-690. DOI: 10.1086/598239.

- 52. D'Antonio NN, Rihs JD, Stout JE, et al. Revisiting the hand wipe versus gel rub debate: is a higher-ethanol content hand wipe more effective than an ethanol gel rub? *American Journal of Infection Control* 2010; 38: 678-682. Comparative Study Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't.
- 53. Ory J, Zingg W, de Kraker MEA, et al. Wiping Is Inferior to Rubbing: A Note of Caution for Hand Hygiene With Alcohol-Based Solutions. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 2018; 39: 332-335. Comparative Study.

### **Appendix 1: Grades of recommendation**

Grade	Descriptor	SIGN levels of evidence
Mandatory	A mandatory recommendation (recommendations that are directives from government policy, regulations or legislation)	N/A
Category A	Based on high to moderate quality evidence	SIGN level 1++, 1+, 2++, 2+, AGREE strongly recommend
Category B	Based on low to moderate quality of evidence which suggest net clinical benefits over harm	SIGN level 2+, 3, 4, AGREE recommend
Category C	Expert opinion, these may be formed by the NPGO groups when there is no robust professional or scientific literature available to inform guidance.	SIGN level 4, or opinion of NPGO group
No recommendation	Insufficient evidence to recommend one way or another	N/A